Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-19-2018

Kosmann v. Dinius Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45779

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is an attorney malpractice lawsuit and attorney-lien claim that settled for \$40,000 during a formal, Court-ordered mediation, with both sides represented by counsel and zero interaction between the parties. However, before the settlement was put on the record, defendant-attorney Kevin Dinius (“Dinius”) met alone with plaintiff David Kosmann (“Kosmann”), his former client, and convinced him to instead settle for \$32,000. Dinius was able to convince Kosmann to take a lesser sum because Kosmann’s attorney Loren Messerly (“Messerly”) was not told of these renegotiations and was not present to protect his client from being deceived. During the secret meeting, Dinius bad-mouthed Messerly and used knowledge of his ex-client’s timidity and naivete to trick him into giving up \$8,000 in exchange for a worthless release for Messerly. The mediator, Stephen Dunn (“Judge Dunn”), a District Judge from Bannock County, arranged the secret meeting for Dinius with Kosmann, and neither Judge Dunn, Dinius, nor Dinius’s attorney Yvonne Dunbar (“Dunbar”) told Messerly about the meeting.

This was a flagrant violation of a foundational rule of American litigation. It was also a violation of Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 4.2, which prohibits Idaho lawyers from having unauthorized communications with represented parties (aka: the “no-contact rule”). Rule 4.2 required Dinius and Dunbar (and Judge Dunn) to ask Messerly if he consented to a meeting between just Dinius and Kosmann (Dinius, Dunbar, and Judge Dunn undoubtedly knew Messerly would not have allowed it). The no-contact rule has been in place for at least a century

to stop what happened here: a naive party manipulated by a lawyer to **give up part of his settlement in exchange for something valueless** -- release of non-existent liability for counsel.

Upon learning what happened, Messerly immediately demanded that Dinius proceed with the original \$40,000 settlement. Dinius could have easily remedied the violation: apologize for the improper contact with a represented party and concede the original \$40,000 settlement. Instead, Dinius claimed he did nothing wrong. In fact, Dinius and Dunbar instead argued that Kosmann and Messerly would be sanctioned if Kosmann failed to abide by this new agreement. Inexplicably, Judge Dunn supported Dinius, claiming no ethics violation and arguing to Kosmann that the amended agreement was the only enforceable agreement and he would pay expensive attorney fees (and possibly sanctions) if he challenged it. Unsurprisingly, Kosmann believed he had no choice. He was being threatened by two attorneys and a Judge. Against his attorney's advice, Kosmann put the amended agreement on the record. Messerly put an objection on the record, to make clear that he denied the validity of the new terms and believed Kosmann had been cheated out of \$8,000 and tricked into paying for a counsel release. On the record, Dunbar, Dinius, and Judge Dunn (1) admitted to facilitating the *ex parte* meeting that reduced Kosmann's settlement by \$8,000, and (2) did not deny failing to inform Messerly of the meeting.

Any ethical attorneys would not have secret negotiations, and if they somehow "innocently" erred, then they would have quickly remedied it. Dinius and Dunbar, however, refused to concede they had done anything improper and instead insisted they could use the court to profit from Dinius's unauthorized contact, filing a motion to enforce the \$32,000 settlement. Kosmann and Messerly were forced to ask the District Court to remedy the situation by awarding

the lost \$8,000 settlement funds and reimbursing all attorney fees. Litigation should have been minimal because this should have been an easy issue to resolve. The no-contact rule is known by all lawyers and used every day in their practice, and Idaho has case law directly on point, *Runsvold v. Idaho State Bar*, 129 Idaho 419, 421, 925 P.2d 1118, 1120 (1996), holding that an Idaho attorney, even when a party in a lawsuit, cannot have contact with the represented opposing party without first obtaining explicit consent from opposing counsel. The rule is rooted in common sense policy that “prevents a lawyer from nullifying the protection a represented person has achieved by retaining counsel.” G. HAZARD, JR. & W. HODES, *THE LAW OF LAWYERING*, § 4.2.101 (2d ed. 1993) (quoted in *Runsvold*).

The District Court, however, repeatedly refused to do justice and enforce Idaho ethical rules and caselaw precedent. On the record at the end of mediation, Dinius and Dunbar had asserted they did nothing wrong because they assumed Messerly knew about the *ex parte* meeting. In the subsequent litigation, however, Dinius and Dunbar changed their position to add many other excuses. The District Court initially ruled in favor of their new argument that Rule 4.2 was inapplicable because Dinius was not “representing a client” other than himself. When presented with the *Runsvold* case rejecting that argument, the District Court just changed its position to reach the same result by relying on three other excuses. In the end, the Court not only refused to identify ethical violations or remedy them; it gave legal authorization to the violations by ruling that Dinius could enforce the reduced terms that would not exist but for unethical and unauthorized contact with a represented party.

As a final act of judicial abuse and retaliation, the District Court instead awarded monetary sanctions against Kosmann and Messerly. The sanctioned conduct was the “egregious” act of submitting a supplemental filing and accidentally forgetting to file a separate motion for leave (which “error” was immediately corrected). When Messerly pointed out a dozen reasons why this sanction was contrary to law and equity (including how Dinius violated Rule 11’s safe-harbor requirement), **the District Court again ignored the law** and Kosmann’s arguments.

Therefore, Kosmann asks the Court to reverse the District Court and (1) confirm that Dinius (with Dunbar and Judge Dunn’s assistance) violated IRPC 4.2 when he negotiated alone with the opposing party without first obtaining consent from opposing counsel, (2) remedy the damages caused by the ethical violation by awarding the \$8,000 in lost settlement funds and reimbursing all post-mediation attorney fees, including appellate attorney fees, incurred because of Dinius and Dunbar’s refusal to voluntarily remedy their ethical violation, (3) reverse the monetary sanctions against Kosmann and sanction Dinius and Dunbar for abusive use of sanction requests, and (4) remand to a different district judge who will follow the law.

B. Statement of Facts.

1. Two Issues in Two Cases to Settle at Mediation.

The mediation at issue is tangentially related to litigation previously before this Court. *See Kosmann v. Gilbride*, 161 Idaho 363, 386 P.3d 504 (2016). Dinius represented Kosmann in that litigation against Leo Gilbride (“Gilbride”) regarding Kosmann’s residence. R. Vol. III, p.84. After losing Kosmann’s home to fraudster Gilbride, Dinius claimed that he was owed more than \$50,000 in additional attorney fees. *Id.* Dinius filed a notice of attorney’s lien against the

\$31,000 judgment that Gilbride owed to Kosmann (funds Kosmann loaned to Gilbride and then Gilbride tried to steal, claiming they were for his imaginary car parts). *Id.*

Gilbride posted a cash bond for the \$31,000 judgment and filed an appeal to this Court seeking to recover approximately \$100,000 in attorney fees as the “prevailing party,” which would have wiped out the judgment and bankrupted Kosmann. *Id.* Dinius refused to defend that appeal without first being paid the additional \$50,000 he believed he was owed. *Id.* Kosmann hired Messerly as pro bono new counsel and eventually prevailed in defending the appeal. *Id.* Kosmann then asked the District Court to release the approximately \$32,000 (after interest) cash bond, but the Court refused based on Dinius’s attorney lien. Supp.R., pp.12-20. Kosmann also filed a malpractice lawsuit against Dinius, pointing out numerous errors causing Kosmann to lose his home to an obvious fraudster. R. Vol. II, pp.12-82. The common-sense result, which Dinius failed to pursue, was the unwinding of the sale (based on fraud by Gilbride and the malpractice of the realtor who recommended and directed the transaction) and returning Kosmann’s lender to its secured position on the property. *Id.* Kosmann sought thousands of dollars in damages for Dinius’s malpractice. *Id.* Thus, there were two issues for resolution: Dinius’s claim to an additional \$50,000 in fees and Kosmann’s claim to malpractice damages; tangentially, release of the \$32,000 of Kosmann’s own money, held by the court for two years, was also at issue.

2. At Court-Ordered Mediation, the Matters Settle for \$40,000 to Kosmann.

The District Court encouraged both parties to use the Court’s free mediation services and both parties agreed. On June 19, 2017, the Court issued its Mediation Order stating, “The Court hereby appoints Stephen S. Dunn, District Judge, to serve as mediator” on “July 26, 2017, at

9:00 A.M. at the Canyon County Courthouse.” R. Vol. II, p.106. On that date, Kosmann (and his girlfriend) and his counsel Messerly appeared and were placed in a room, while Dinius and his counsel Dunbar were placed in a separate room (Dinius’ malpractice insurer was on the telephone in Dinius’s room), separated only by a wall. R. Vol. III, pp.61-62, ¶¶3-4; p.85-87, ¶¶6-17; p.215, ¶3; pp.348-49, ¶¶2-3; 408-14, ¶¶5-6, 20-21. Judge Dunn met with each side separately. *Id.* All negotiations during the mediation were through the mediator (except for one heated discussion between Messerly and Dunbar in the hall). *Id.* The parties negotiated approximately five hours regarding an amount to be paid by Dinius’s malpractice insurer to settle all issues. *Id.* Around 1 or 2 p.m., the parties reached an agreement for \$40,000 to be paid to Kosmann and an “undisclosed amount” to be paid to Dinius. *Id.* Kosmann already had the \$32,000 being held by the Court, so this was an agreement that the malpractice insurer would pay only \$8,000 in new money to Kosmann and the undisclosed amount to Dinius. *Id.* Dinius requested for his payment to initially come from Kosmann’s \$32,000 held by the Court and then his malpractice insurer would reimburse Kosmann (this strange money flow was used because the insurer was unwilling to directly pay its insured Dinius). *Id.* In exchange for their respective payments, Kosmann dropped his malpractice claims and Dinius dropping his claims for additional fees. *Id.*

3. The Dispute About the Scope of the Mutual Release to Include Counsel.

After reaching agreement about the key payment issues, the parties discussed a couple uncontested ancillary issues, i.e. a basic confidentiality and non-disparagement agreement. R. Vol. III, p.68-70, ¶¶10-12, 17-21, 27-28; pp.158-65; p.215, ¶3; pp.318-25. Also part of the “wrap

up,” the parties discussed the mutual release, and Kosmann said the scope of the release would include a protection against future lawsuits against his attorney Messerly. *Id.* Kosmann explained that Dinius threatened to sue Messerly twice (once during the mediation), and Kosmann believed such a lawsuit would be frivolous but he did not want his counsel tied up with frivolous litigation (because his counsel represented him, mostly pro bono, in two other active cases). *Id.* The release of counsel was discussed only after his \$40,000 settlement amount was finalized, so Kosmann was not offering to pay anything for the release for his counsel (like Dinius had not paid anything for the confidentiality and non-disparagement add-on terms he wanted). *Id.*

Kosmann and Messerly were surprised when Dinius refused to include Messerly in the scope of the release, suggesting Dinius was planning on filing a frivolous lawsuit against Messerly. R., Vol. II, p.114-15, ¶¶2-4; Vol. III, pp.61-62, ¶¶3-4; pp.88-90, ¶¶18-32; p.215, ¶3; pp.408, ¶5. Judge Dunn indicated that Dinius and Dunbar claimed Dinius was ethically forbidden from agreeing to this release of counsel. *Id.* Judge Dunn took the side of Dinius and Dunbar and claimed that such a release was unethical to ask for, agree to, or accept, though Judge Dunn could not articulate what valid claim against Messerly was being released or why it was unethical to include a release of counsel that the client was paying nothing to obtain. *Id.* Messerly made clear to the mediator that he believed a release of counsel was a normal term found in many release agreements (Messerly has provided two example settlement releases drafted by other attorneys that included release of counsel). *Id.* Judge Dunn suddenly claimed he was considering making an ethics Complaint against Messerly to Bar Counsel. *Id.* Judge Dunn’s threats caused significant anxiety for Kosmann and Messerly. *Id.* Judge Dunn also stated that he

agreed with Dinius and Dunbar that the release for counsel was requested too late and the parties already had a final settlement for \$40,000. *Id.* During this debate about the scope of the mutual release, Dinius never asked Kosmann to pay anything for release of his counsel, and Messerly and Kosmann specifically discussed that Kosmann would never pay anything for a release that was not even for Kosmann, particularly since there was no actual counsel liability to Dinius to release. R. Vol. III, p.93, ¶39. Messerly eventually told Kosmann to drop the issue and move forward with the existing agreement: settlement for \$40,000 and a mutual release that did not include counsel. R., Vol. II, p.114-15, ¶¶2-4; Vol. III, pp.61-62, ¶¶3-4; pp.88-90, ¶¶18-32; pp.408, ¶5. Messerly told Kosmann that because of the accusations of the release being unethical, Messerly would now not accept a release from Dinius even if it was offered. *Id.*

Messerly sent Kosmann out of the room to tell Judge Dunn that the mediation had been fully resolved based on the existing \$40,000 agreement, without a release of counsel. R. Vol. III, p.91, ¶33; p.309, ¶¶8-9. The mediation was now over. R. Vol. III, p.215, ¶5. Typically, Messerly would convey this final acceptance, but Messerly sent Kosmann because of the repeated accusations from Judge Dunn (in front of Kosmann) that Messerly was improperly making the decisions rather than Kosmann (an absurd notion by Judge Dunn since it is counsel's job to give Kosmann the best advice about settlement options). *Id.*

4. Kosmann Meets Alone With Dinius and Everyone Knows Except Messerly.

Kosmann told Judge Dunn that he had dropped the release of counsel issue and the case was settled for \$40,000. R. Vol. II, p.115, ¶5; Vol. II, p.62, ¶5; Vol. III, pp.309-10, ¶¶3-7; p.349-351, ¶¶4-5, 12. He also asked Judge Dunn if he could speak to Dinius about getting an informal

promise that he would not sue Messerly. *Id.* Kosmann had not discussed this idea with Messerly. *Id.* In fact, during two years since Dinius stopped representing Kosmann in 2015, the two had never spoken and all communication from Dinius and Dunbar to Kosmann and vice versa had gone through Messerly. *Id.* Judge Dunn did not tell Messerly (sitting a few feet away behind a closed door) about his client's request. *Id.* Instead, Judge Dunn took Kosmann's request to Dinius and Dunbar. *Id.* Neither Judge Dunn, Dinius, nor Dunbar told Kosmann that *ex parte* meetings are not allowed unless his counsel consents. *Id.* Neither Dinius nor Dunbar asked Kosmann or Judge Dunn whether Messerly knew or had consented. *Id.* Dinius (with Dunbar and Judge Dunn's blessing) met with Kosmann alone (without telling Messerly). *Id.*

After approximately 20-25 minutes had passed without Kosmann returning, Messerly opened the door to leave their negotiation room, intending to look for his client. R. Vol. II, pp.115, ¶5; Vol. III, pp.61-62, ¶¶3-4; pp.91-92, ¶¶33-37; pp.215-16, ¶¶6-8; pp.310-11, ¶¶10-15; p.349, ¶¶4-6. Messerly was surprised to discover Judge Dunn leaning against the wall right outside the door. *Id.* Messerly asked Judge Dunn why he was not writing up the final settlement. *Id.* Judge Dunn explained that Kosmann was in a closed room across the hall meeting with Dinius. *Id.* Messerly immediately objected and asked why this was happening. *Id.* Judge Dunn explained that he set it up, that it was to clear the air, and that the \$40,000 settlement was already final. *Id.* Messerly stated that a secret meeting between a lawyer and an opposing party during mediation was improper, but Judge Dunn said it was proper. *Id.* Messerly did not know what to do (since a Judge was telling him to back off). *Id.* Before he could decide what to do, Kosmann returned, with Judge Dunn accompanying him, and announced that he had reached a new

settlement: all the same terms except Dinius would now give the broader release to include a release of Messerly in exchange for Kosmann giving up \$8,000 of the prior settlement, i.e. Kosmann was now just receiving back his approximately \$32,000 being held by the Court. *Id.*

Messerly immediately objected and indicated that this was improper: a secret meeting that Judge Dunn, Dinius, and Dunbar knew about but Messerly did not, the renegotiation of a settlement reached hours before, Judge Dunn's incorrect claim that the meeting was just to "clear the air," and the exchange of \$8,000 for a release that minutes earlier Judge Dunn, Dinius, and Dunbar had claimed was unethical and that Messerly had said he would not accept and certainly would never allow his client to pay for. R. Vol. III, pp.61-62, ¶¶3-4; pp.92-94, ¶¶38-45; p.216, ¶9; pp.311-13, ¶¶16-19; p.350-52, ¶¶7-13; pp.410-12, ¶¶11-14. Judge Dunn disagreed with Messerly and told Kosmann that the new agreement was now the final agreement, eliminating the prior settlement. *Id.* Judge Dunn unequivocally told Kosmann and Messerly that there was nothing improper with Dinius meeting with Kosmann without getting Messerly's consent. *Id.* Messerly insisted that Judge Dunn tell Dinius and Dunbar about the impropriety of their unauthorized meeting with Kosmann and demand they stick with the original agreement for \$40,000. *Id.* When Judge Dunn returned, he indicated that they had refused and he again agreed with them. *Id.* Judge Dunn told Kosmann and Messerly that he would just put the new agreement on the record. *Id.* He also indicated that Dinius and Dunbar had stated they would file motions to have Messerly and Kosmann sanctioned if Kosmann refused to follow through with the new agreement (which they subsequently did). *Id.* Judge Dunn said Messerly would be acting improperly if he tried to unwind an agreement already reached between the parties. *Id.*

5. Kosmann Puts New Settlement on Record After Threats by Judge Dunn and Dinius.

Messerly told Kosmann that he would not accept the release from Dinius and he would not support the renegotiated settlement. R. Vol. III, pp.61-62, ¶¶3-4; pp.94-95, ¶¶46-48; p.217, ¶¶10-12; pp.313-14, ¶¶20-24; p.352-53, ¶¶14-17. Messerly said Kosmann now had two options, neither of which were good: (1) ignore Messerly's advice and give away the \$8,000 (in exchange for nothing) over Messerly's stated objections; or (2) let Messerly fight to enforce the original settlement agreement and oppose the new terms, knowing it would be a lengthy fight and Judge Dunn was going to support the other side. *Id.* Kosmann was overwhelmed and in tears because of the situation. *Id.* Messerly was angry at the unethical behavior by Dinius, Dunbar and Judge Dunn and distraught for his client. *Id.* Kosmann decided to not fight Judge Dunn, Dinius, or Dunbar anymore. *Id.* Kosmann made this decision based on the misrepresentations by Dinius during the secret meeting, Judge Dunn and Dinius's false claims about the validity of the secret meeting, and his fear of the threats that he would go through months more litigation and pay sanctions and other fees if he challenged what they had done. *Id.*

6. Judge Dunn Admits Orchestrating Secret Meeting; Messerly States His Objection.

The parties then went on the record. Judge Dunn spoke first:

... I've been mediating the matter with the parties and their representative counsel. And they have reached a settlement agreement. The essence of the agreement is that for a payment of ... \$32,047.19 that – to Mr. Kosmann. There will be a complete release and dismissal of any and all claims between the parties, each party to bear their own costs and fees. ... I'll note for the record that there were, in the last few minutes, individualized discussions between the parties, Mr. Kosmann and Mr. Dinius, outside the presence of counsel that that discussion led, in part, to this agreement. ... But the essence of the agreement is for a complete dismissal of all – any and all claims. There will be that payment. ...

Tr. p.2, L. 2:6-3:2. Judge Dunn did not mention the payment going to Dinius, the release of Messerly that Dinius had promised to Kosmann, that Judge Dunn arranged those *ex parte* “discussions between the parties,” or that Judge Dunn had purposely not disclosed them to Messerly (undoubtedly knowing Messerly would never have consented to it). *Id.*

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