#### **Uldaho Law**

### Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-14-2018

## Kosmann v. Dinius Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45779

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Kosmann's briefing is a bit difficult to follow, given the order in which his various arguments were presented and due to his failure to present cogent arguments and legal authority for each issue he references. With that being said, it appears he is essentially arguing the District Court erred by declining Kosmann's request for sanctions; the District Court erred by enforcing the settlement placed on the record; and the District Court erred in imposing a \$200 sanction against Kosmann's counsel. For the reasons set forth below, the District Court's rulings were proper and should be affirmed.

### A. Kosmann's Appeal Should be Disregarded in Several Respects

# 1. Kosmann's Appeal Should be Disregarded to the Extent it Raises Issues Not Argued Below

The Idaho Supreme Court has repeatedly held that matters not raised below will not be considered on appeal. *See e.g. Zylstra v. State*, 157 Idaho 457, 461 (2014) ("With the exception of jurisdictional issues, '[a]n argument not raised below and not supported in the briefs is waived on appeal""). Here, Kosmann presents the following arguments for the first time on appeal:

- Kosmann is entitled to recover as sanctions \$8,000, see Appellant's Brief, p. 34;
- The settlement placed on the record is unenforceable due to substantive and procedural unconscionability, *see Appellant's Brief*, p. 37, ftnt. 3
- Defendants should be sanctioned for an alleged abuse of Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 11, see Appellant's Brief, p. 40-41; and
- If the appeal is granted, Judge Petty should be disqualified from this matter. *See Appellant's Brief*, p. 42.

As these arguments were not raised by Kosmann below; they are not properly before this Court and should not be considered on appeal. *See e.g. Zylstra*, 157 Idaho at 461.

## 2. Kosmann's Appeal Should be Disregarded to the Extent it Raises Issues Not Timely Presented Below

The Idaho Supreme Court and Idaho Court of Appeals have also declined to consider issues on appeal which were not properly or timely brought to the District Court's attention. *See e.g. Taylor v. Riley*, 162 Idaho 692, 703–04 (2017) (holding, even though the district court considered a the motion to reconsider, it lacked jurisdiction to do so because the motion was not timely filed; and, due to the untimely filing, the Court the district court's "denial of the motion for reconsideration is not an issue for consideration on appeal, nor can the documents submitted

with that motion be considered on appeal") *Karlson v. Harris*, 140 Idaho 561, 571 (2004) (finding a request for judicial notice was not properly before the Court as it was not timely raised in the district court proceeding); *Glengary-Gamlin Protective Ass'n, Inc. v. Bird*, 106 Idaho 84, 87 (Ct. App. 1983) (citations omitted) (ruling "Because that issue was not timely raised before the district court, we decline to consider it here").

Here, Kosmann's *Appellant's Brief* is replete with arguments which were not properly and timely raised below, including the following:

- The settlement agreement placed on the record is unenforceable due to a failure of consideration, fraud, and mistake, *see Appellant's Brief*, p. 37, ftnt. 3; and
- The District Court's award of sanctions against Kosmann violates the "safe harbor provision" of Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 11(c)(2). See Appellant's Brief, p. 39.

With regard to the contract-based arguments, Kosmann failed to timely and properly raise them below. Instead, he referenced these legal theories, without providing any actual analysis or argument in support, in his untimely *Memorandum in Support of His Motion to Reconsider*. With regard to the Rule 11(c)(2), Kosmann did not timely raise the issue because he waited until he filed his reply brief in support of his motion to reconsider to mention it.

In a recent decision, the Idaho Supreme Court held that a District Court did not have jurisdiction to consider a motion to reconsider which was not timely filed under Rule 11(a)(2)(B). See Taylor, 162 Idaho at 703–04. Similar to that holding, the Idaho Supreme Court has made clear that any memorandum, affidavits, or arguments lodged in support of a motion to reconsider must also be filed within the Rule 11(a)(2)(B) 14-day deadline. See e.g. Marek v. Hecla, Ltd., 161 Idaho 211, 221 (2016); Franklin Bldg. Supply Co. v. Hymas, 157 Idaho 632, 642

(2014). More specifically, the Court in *Franklin Bldg*. *Supply Co.*, 157 Idaho at 642, addressed the 14-day deadline contained in the predecessor rule and held:

A party cannot sidestep the requirement to file a motion within a certain period by filing an unsupported motion and promising support down the road. See Kuhn v. Coldwell Banker Landmark, Inc., 150 Idaho 240, 248, 245 P.3d 992, 1000 (2010) (holding that motions for a new trial were untimely where the movant filed the motions within the fourteen-day period dictated by the rule, but did not provide factual support for the motions until after the period expired, "[b]ecause there was no factual support filed in support of these motions within the fourteen-day period prescribed by the rule"). Rule 11(a)(2)(B) does not require that a movant support a motion for reconsideration with an affidavit. A movant who does so, however, must serve the affidavit with the motion and within the period of time for filing of the motion.

Furthermore, this Court has held that arguments which are raised by a moving party for the first time in a reply brief, rather than in the initial brief, are not properly before the Court. *Jacklin Land Co. v. Blue Dog RV, Inc.*, 151 Idaho 242, 248 (2011).

While there is no Idaho case law on point, other jurisdictions have held, while a motion to reconsider allows a court to consider additional facts or new law, it cannot be utilized to present "a *new* legal theory for the first time or to raise legal arguments which could have been raised in connection with the original motion." *In re JSJF Corp.*, 344 B.R. 94, 103 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2006), *aff'd and remanded*, 277 F. App'x 718 (9th Cir. 2008); *see also First Bank & Tr. of Idaho v. Parker Bros.*, 112 Idaho 30, 32, 730 P.2d 950, 952 (1986) ("Discovery of new legal theories does not constitute grounds for bringing a 60(b) motion").

Pursuant to the above-referenced case law, the aforementioned arguments should be disregarded and not considered on appeal because they were not properly and timely raised before the District Court.

## 3. Kosmann's Appeal Should be Disregarded to the Extent it Raises Issues He Conceded Below

The Idaho Supreme has held that matters which are conceded before the trial court will not be considered on appeal. *See e.g. State v. Cohagan*, 162 Idaho 717, 721 (2017), *reh'g denied* (Nov. 17, 2017). On appeal, Kosmann admits he conceded that his motion to reconsider memorandum and affidavits were not timely filed. *See Appellant's Brief*, p. 41, ftnt. 5. Despite that concession, Kosmann now asks this Court to review whether the District Court erred in finding the pleadings were untimely filed. *See Appellant's Brief*, p. 41. Given Kosmann's prior concessions, this issue should be disregarded on appeal.

# 4. Kosmann's Appeal Should be Disregarded to the Extent Kosmann failed to Properly Support the Arguments Raised in his Appellant's Brief

It is clearly established in Idaho that issues which are raised, but not adequately briefed, on appeal will be disregarded by this Court. In fact, this Court has held: "Regardless of whether an issue is explicitly set forth in the party's brief as one of the issues on appeal, if the issue is only mentioned in passing and not supported by any cogent argument or authority, it cannot be considered by this Court." *Liponis v. Bach*, 149 Idaho 372, 374 (2010); *see also H.F.L.P., LLC v. City of Twin Falls*, 157 Idaho 672, 686 (2014); *Akers v. D.L. White Const., Inc.*, 156 Idaho 37, 48 (2014).

In his Appellant's Brief, Kosmann makes several conclusory arguments without properly providing any cogent argument or authority to support the same. The conclusory arguments include the following:

• The District Court erred in holding the Idaho State Bar, rather than the District Court, should resolve allegations of IRPC violations, *see Appellant's Brief*, p. 32-34;

- The District Court erred in enforcing the settlement agreement placed on the record, see Appellant's Brief, p. 37-38
- This Court should find that contract-related defenses, such as public policy, failure of consideration, fraud, mistake, and procedural and substantive unconscionability, invalidate the settlement agreement entered on the record *see Appellant's Brief*, p. 37; and
- Judge Petty should be disqualified or replaced if this matter is remanded. *See Appellant's Brief*, p. 42.

Given Kosmann's failure to support these issues with cogent argument and appeal, they should not be considered on appeal. *See e.g. Liponis*, 149 Idaho at 374.

## B. The Trial Court Correctly Declined Kosmann's Requested Sanctions Against Defendants

In his brief, Kosmann claims the District Court erred in declining to impose sanctions against Defendants and their counsel. This issue is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

A court has discretion in determining whether to sanction a party and its counsel and a decision to sanction will not be overruled unless the court clearly abused its discretion. *See e.g. Kantor v. Kantor*, 160 Idaho 810, 819 (2016).

"The test for determining whether a judge abused his or her discretion is (1) whether the lower court rightly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the lower court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with applicable legal standards; and (3) whether the court reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *Id.* at 610, 301 P.3d at 268.

*Id.* If all three factors exist, the district court's ruling must be upheld.

Here, Judge Petty properly perceived the issues of sanctions as one of discretion; he acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with applicable legal standards; and he

reached his decision by an exercise of discretion. Therefore, his decision denying the sanctions requested by Kosmann must be affirmed.

# 1. The District Court Properly Exercised its Discretion in Ruling that the Case Presented a Matter of First Impression

In its *Memorandum Decision and Order* and its *Cross-Motions for Sanctions Decision*, the District Court held it was a matter of first impression in Idaho whether an attorney-litigant who was represented by other counsel was "representing a client" for the purposes of Idaho Rule of Professional Conduct 4.2. Contrary to Kosmann's argument, this holding was not an abuse of discretion. Instead, it was accurate as such an issue was not previously addressed by an Idaho appellate court.

The Idaho Supreme Court has explained an issue is a matter of first impression where it was not expressly decided by it, the Idaho Supreme Court. *See Blake v. Starr*, 146 Idaho 847, 852 (2009) ("This appeal sought determination of an issue not heretofore expressly decided by this Court and therefore involved a case of first impression"). In *Runsvold v. Idaho State Bar*, 129 Idaho 419 (1996), the Idaho Supreme Court only addressed whether an attorney acting pro se, that is, whether an attorney-litigant who was representing himself and did not have other counsel, was "representing a client" under IRPC 4.2. The Idaho Supreme Court did not address, in *Runsvold* or in any other case, whether an attorney-litigant who was represented by counsel was "representing a client" under IRPC 4.2. Therefore, the precise issue before the District Court was not previously addressed by the Idaho Supreme Court. Accordingly, the issue was a matter of first impression and the District Court did not err so holding.

# 2. The District Court Properly Exercised its Discretion in Failing to Award Sanctions Against Defendants

a. A Determination of whether IRPC 4.2 was Violated was Not Necessary for the District Court to Rule on the Issues Before It

Kosmann claims the District Court erred in finding that no ethical violation occurred as a result of the Kosmann-Dinius meeting. However, the District Court made no such ruling; in fact, the District Court did not rule on the issue at all. Instead, the Court held "[w]hether Dinius's meeting with Kosmann violated IRPC 4.2 is not clearly settled under Idaho law." Given that the Court did not actually rule that no ethical violation had occurred, Kosmann's request to have the Idaho Supreme Court review a non-existent decision is without merit and should be denied.

It should also be noted that the District Court did not abuse its discretion because a final determination regarding whether an ethical violation had occurred was not necessary to the matters before it. First, the District Court did not need to determine whether IRPC 4.2 was actually violated when ruling on Kosmann's argument that the settlement was void for public policy. Instead, the Court simply assumed a violation had occurred and then determined whether the assumed violation voided the settlement agreement for public policy reasons. Notably, Kosmann has not presented argument on appeal that the District Court erred in determining the settlement agreement was not void for public policy reasons.

Next, the District Court did not need to determine whether IRPC 4.2 was actually violated when it ruled on Kosmann's motion for sanctions. Kosmann moved for sanctions pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 11. The Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure govern when a district court can sanction a party of his counsel. Those Rules provide only limited bases for the imposition of sanctions. For instance, Rule 11 provides for sanctions where a party files frivolous pleadings; Rule 16 allows a court to sanction a party where the party fails to obey a pretrial order

and/or participate in good faith during a scheduling conference; and Rule 37 provides for sanctions for discovery-related violations. Noticeably missing from these Rules is any reference to the IRPC. This is because the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure and, in particular, Rule 11 does not provide a district court with the ability to sanction a party and/or his counsel due to alleged violations of the IRPC.

Accordingly, the Court correctly focused on the sanction requirements set forth in IRCP 11(b) and (c). In doing so, the District Court correctly analyzed whether the Defendants presented nonfriviolous arguments based upon a good faith belief. The Court also properly exercised its discretion when it ruled the Defendants had not acted in bad faith and had not presented frivolous arguments in support of its motion to enforce the settlement. Notably, on appeal, Kosmann does not seek to have this Court review the District Court's determination that IRCP 11 was not violated by Dinius and Dunbar. For this reasons and because Rule 11 was the basis for Kosmann's underlying motion for sanctions, Kosmann has waived his right to appeal the District Court's denial of sanctions against Defendants.

# b. The Record Does Not Contain Clear and Convincing Evidence of a Violation of IRPC 4.2

On appeal, Kosmann only argues that the District Court erred in failing to find an IRPC 4.2 violation based upon his belief that *Runsvold* dictated such a ruling. *See Appellant's Brief*, p. 32. As explained above, because *Runsvold* is a distinguishable case, it did not mandate that the District Court automatically hold IRPC 4.2 was violated. For this reason and because Kosmann does not present any argument as to why, independent of the *Runsvold* holding, he believes IRPC 4.2 was violated, his appeal fails. In failing to present argument proving an independent basis for the alleged IRPC 4.2 violation, Kosmann waives any such argument on appeal.

Regardless of whether the issue is waived, Kosmann's appeal still fails because the record does not support a finding of an IRPC 4.2 violation. Violations of the Idaho Rules of Professional Conduct must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. *See e.g. Idaho State Bar v. Clark*, 153 Idaho 349, 355 (2012). IRPC 4.2 reads:

In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject of the representation with a person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer or is authorized to do so by law or a court order.

Several courts, including the Idaho Supreme Court, have interpreted "in representing a client" "to include the situation in which an attorney is acting *pro se...*" *Runsvold*, 129 Idaho at 421. In so holding, the Idaho Supreme Court ruled "a *pro se* lawyer/litigant does represent a client when representing himself or herself in a matter; thus, I.R.P.C. 4.2 applies to prevent the *pro se* attorney from directly contacting a represented opposing party." *See id.* As explained in *Runsvold*, an attorney is acting *pro se* where he represents himself in a matter and is not represented by other counsel. *See id.*; *see also* Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) ("pro se" is defined as "[f]or oneself; on one's own behalf; without a lawyer").

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